IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

Supreme Court Cause No. DA 25-0454

JUBILEE NESTA SARA DA',
Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CITY OF BOZEMAN,
Defendants and Appellees.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

On Appeal from the Eighteenth Judicial District Court,
Gallatin County, Montana
Cause No. DV-20-1267A
Honorable Rienne H. McElyea

Appearances:

Casey Magan
Russell Waddell
Waddell & Magan, PC
P.O. Box 11330
Bozeman, Montana 59719-1330
(406) 585-4145; (406) 587-6167 fax
ecm@bozemanlawyer.com
rsw@bozemanlawyer.com
Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant

Brian L. Taylor
Steve Hamilton
HALL & EVANS LLC
175 N. 27th Street, Suite 1101
Billings, MT 59101
(406) 969-5227; (406) 969-5233 fax

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. The District Court erred by restricting the inapplicability of the public duty doctrine solely to premises liability claims, contrary to Montana statutes and common-law principles requiring the exercise of ordinary care.**
- 2. The District Court erred by concluding that a nonfunctioning streetlight does not constitute premises liability under Montana law, thereby excluding causation evidence against the City.**
- 3. Whether this Court should abolish the judicially created public duty doctrine, which conflicts with Montana’s Constitution, statutes, and precedent.**

These issues were preserved through briefing and oral argument on the summary judgment motions (*see* Docs. 70, 111, 112, and Tr. 9/6/24) and raised in supplemental briefing and Plaintiff’s offer of proof prior to trial. (Docs. 214, 215).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the case.

This appeal arises from a nighttime auto–pedestrian collision at a crosswalk adjacent to Montana State University in Bozeman. Appellant Jubilee Nesta Sara Da’ (“Nesta”), the pedestrian, sustained serious injuries and sued three parties: (1) the driver, Tasha Nelson; (2) the City of

Bozeman, as owner and maintainer of the intersection; and (3) NorthWestern Energy, owner of the streetlight located at the crosswalk. The complaint alleged that the crosswalk was hazardous because it lacked pavement markings and signage and was unlit due to a burned-out streetlight.

NorthWestern Energy had installed the streetlight on City property under a contract with the City requiring the utility to replace bulbs once notified of an outage. The City's police department was responsible under the contract for reporting outages to the utility. At the time of the collision, the streetlight had not been functioning "for some time," but the City never reported it, and NorthWestern Energy had no notice. Nelson later filed for bankruptcy, and Nesta settled with NorthWestern Energy after judgment. The only appellee remaining is the City of Bozeman.

Relevant procedural history.

The City moved for summary judgment, arguing that, under the public duty doctrine, it owed no individual duty to Nesta to maintain its streets and crosswalks in a safe condition. The District Court denied the motion, holding that because Nesta's claim sounded in premises liability, the public duty doctrine did not bar it. (Appx., Doc. 168 at 5).

NorthWestern Energy subsequently moved for summary judgment, contending it owed no duty regarding the streetlight. The District Court granted the motion, noting that the City had not raised maintenance of the streetlight in its earlier motion for summary judgment, and concluding that an inoperable streetlight was not actionable under a premises liability theory and, therefore, the public duty doctrine shielded the City from liability concerning the streetlight. (Appx., Doc. 193 at 11–12). NorthWestern Energy was later dismissed from the case. (Doc. 204).

At the February 19, 2025 final pretrial conference, the District Court stated that its order on NorthWestern Energy was the law of the case. (Tr. 2/19/25, 51:5-7). Because the parties remained uncertain about how the ruling applied to the City, the Court ordered supplemental briefing. Nesta filed her brief together with a written offer of proof. (Doc. 214).

On the morning of trial, March 12, 2025, the court ruled again outside the jury's presence that the inoperable streetlight was not actionable under premises liability and that the public duty doctrine applied, shielding the City from liability. (Appx., Tr. 3/12/25, 5:1-6 and 19-25) (quoting Appx., Doc. 193 at 12). The court also barred expert testimony about the streetlight's causal effect. (Appx., Tr. 3/12/25, 6:1-5).

The case proceeded to trial March 12 to 20, 2025. The jury found the City not negligent, assigned comparative fault of 35% to Nesta and 65% to Nelson, and awarded \$1.6 million in damages. (Doc. 240). Judgment was entered accordingly (Doc. 259), and Nesta timely appealed. (Doc. 262). Nelson thereafter declared bankruptcy, and NorthWestern Energy settled with Nesta during the appeal. This appeal proceeds only against the City of Bozeman.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The following facts are drawn from the Statements of Uncontroverted Facts in Plaintiff's Responses to the Motions for Summary Judgment filed by the City of Bozeman and NorthWestern Energy (Doc. 70 at 3-10, and Doc. 111 at 3-11, and Doc. 112, Exhibits thereto). Citations to deposition excerpts, expert reports, and exhibits are included where relevant to illustrate the record support for these uncontested facts. Unless noted, all exhibits referenced in this statement of facts are to those exhibits attached to Plaintiff's Response to NorthWestern Energy's Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. 112):

On October 14, 2019, at approximately 8:30 p.m., Nesta was struck by a vehicle while crossing West College Street at South 15th Avenue in

Bozeman. At the time, she lived in nearby graduate housing at Montana State University (MSU) with her mother and two sisters. She had been walking south across the western crosswalk when Defendant Tasha Nelson, driving eastbound on College Street, hit her (Compl.; Ex. 3, Nelson Depo. 26:18-19).

The intersection, located at one of the MSU entrances, was owned and maintained by the City of Bozeman (Doc. 5, City's Ans. at ¶ 5), and was not regulated by traffic control devices. Neither the eastern nor western crosswalks was marked with paint or striping (Ex. 1, Norris Report at 14). No pedestrian crossing sign was posted at the western crosswalk where Nesta crossed; the only crossing sign visible to eastbound drivers appeared at the eastern crosswalk, facing west, and Nelson did not encounter it until after the collision (Ex. 1, Norris Rpt. at 13; Ex. 3, Nelson Depo. 6:15-19). For years before the crash, the City had been advised to install a rectangular rapid flashing beacon at the intersection, but none was present. (*See* Doc. 214, Exs. 41–42). Nor was there an advance “Pedestrian Ahead” warning for drivers approaching from the west, such as Nelson (Ex. 1, Norris Rpt. at 13, 16; Ex. 3, Nelson Depo. 13:2-12, 14:1-25).

The speed limit was 25 miles per hour. At the time of impact, Nesta had already traversed the westbound lane and was partway through the

eastbound lane of College Street (Ex. 1, Norris Rpt. at 3). Nelson testified that she had been temporarily blinded by oncoming headlights and first saw Nesta mid-lane and braked, striking her almost simultaneously. (Ex. 3, Nelson Depo. 61:25-62:4, 89:18-21, 91:23-92:1).

Lighting conditions made the intersection especially dangerous. The only streetlight positioned to illuminate the crosswalk was not functioning and had been out “for some time” before the crash (Ex. 6, FOIA documents, email from Nesta’s mother). The light, owned by NorthWestern Energy but located on City property, was supposed to be serviced upon notice of outages. (Ex. 7, Bengé Depo. 38:2-6).

Both Nelson and her husband described the scene as unusually dark, with no awareness of a light at all. (Ex. 3, Nelson Depo. 70:18-20, 137:2-4;



Ex. 4, Todd Nelson Depo. 4:22-23, 5:4-13, 7:5-13). Dashcam footage showed the burned-out light. (Ex. 2, Depo. Ex. 64B).

Nelson admitted that illumination would have made pedestrians easier to see and that additional lighting would have helped her detect someone crossing. (Ex. 3, Nelson Depo. 72:9-10, 16:7-9). She had driven through the intersection roughly 200 times, many at night, but never realized there was a streetlight. (Doc. 214, Ex. 2, Nelson Depo. 10:1-2, 15:8-14, 21-25, 118:5-6). Nesta testified similarly that the intersection was “very dark” throughout the summer months leading up to the crash. (Doc. 214, Ex. 3, Nesta Depo. 284:23-25).

The City and NorthWestern Energy had an established arrangement for lighting maintenance. Officials described NorthWestern as a “good partner,” and both parties agreed the utility replaced bulbs within a reasonable time once notified. (Ex. 10; Ex. 7, Bengé Depo. 84:21-22, 86:3-11). NorthWestern relied on reports from the public or City police, but the police never reported this outage, despite headquarters being a block away. (Ex. 7, Bengé Depo. 80:6-12, 81:21-22; Doc. 93 at 3). The utility had virtually no maintenance records, except for replacing the bulb after Nesta’s collision. (Ex. 9, NWE Disc. Resp. Ans. to Interrog. 10-11, NWE 000012).

Expert testimony in the case uniformly concluded that the absence of a working streetlight significantly contributed to the crash. The disclosures explained that the collision was a foreseeable result of NorthWestern

Energy's and the City's joint failure to maintain the streetlight, the City's failure to properly mark and sign the crosswalk, and Nelson's failure to yield (Ex. 1, Norris Rpt. at 11; Ex. 5, Miller Eng'g Rpt. at 3). Experts further concluded that:

- The lack of lighting at the intersection made the crosswalk unsafe and the intersection unsafe for pedestrians and drivers alike. (Ex. 1, Norris Rpt. at 12);
- The City, in concert with NorthWestern Energy, failed to maintain street lighting that was placed at this location to provide pedestrian visibility. (*Id.* at 16);
- More likely than not, a working streetlight would have helped reduce the glare of oncoming headlights. (*Id.*, and Ex. 5 at 12 (“With the additional street lighting, Tasha may also have detected Nesta sooner and may not have been subjected to the same level of glare by the oncoming traffic.”));
- More likely than not, a working streetlight would have helped Nelson see Nesta in the crosswalk. (*Id.*);
- If the light had been operable there would have been a reasonable probability the oncoming vehicle would have detected Nesta sooner, notwithstanding whatever effects Tasha's vehicle's headlights might have had on the oncoming vehicle's detection capabilities (noting a study that found that such oncoming headlights might reduce pedestrian detection distances by as much as 52%). (Ex. 5 at 8);
- The darkness of the unlit intersection, with the combination of the oncoming headlights, would have prevented any driver to have had the opportunity to (a) observe pedestrian Nesta entering the traffic lanes, and yield to a pedestrian, or (b) sound horn, brake, or come to a complete stop prior to encountering Nesta, or (c) avoid encountering Nesta by maneuvering the vehicle. (*Id.* at 12).

In sum, the intersection where Nesta was struck combined multiple hazards: no markings, no signage, no advance warning, no beacon, and a darkened crosswalk due to an inoperative streetlight that had not been working for “some time.” These conditions, on City premises and under its responsibility to maintain and report, foreseeably created an unreasonable risk to pedestrians, such as Nesta, and to drivers, such as Nelson.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue 1 – Application of the public duty doctrine.

Whether the public duty doctrine applies is a question of law reviewed de novo for correctness. *See Phipps v. Old Republic Nat’l Title Ins. Co.*, 2021 MT 152, ¶ 10, 489 P.3d 507 (citing *Jackson v. Dep’t of Family Servs.*, 1998 MT 46, 287 Mont. 473, 956 P.2d 35).

Issue 2 – Characterization of a streetlight under premises liability, and exclusion of causation evidence.

Whether a condition constitutes premises liability is a question of law, reviewed de novo. *See id.* Evidentiary rulings resting on an interpretation or misapplication of law, such as whether the City’s duty to maintain a streetlight is covered by premises liability, or whether the public duty doctrine bars a negligence theory, are likewise reviewed de novo. *See State*

v. Ring, 2014 MT 49, ¶ 12, 374 Mont. 109, 321 P.3d 800 (holding that when a discretionary ruling turns on a conclusion of law, review is plenary, and this Court determines whether the law was interpreted correctly).

Issue 3 – Continued validity of the public duty doctrine.

Because the public duty doctrine is a judicially created common-law rule, this Court has the inherent authority to modify or abolish it, particularly where it conflicts with Montana’s Constitution or public policy. *See, e.g., Bassett v. Lamantia*, 2018 MT 119, 391 Mont. 309, 417 P.3d 299 (significantly narrowing the doctrine to officers’ general duty to the public, and refusing to extend it to injuries caused by affirmative conduct).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court committed two legal errors.

First, it improperly limited the inapplicability of the public duty doctrine to premises liability claims. Montana law imposes a universal duty of ordinary care on all persons and entities, including municipalities, and does not recognize immunity based solely on status.

Second, the court held that a nonfunctioning streetlight on City property was not part of the premises, thereby excluding key causation evidence. This contradicted its own prior order that the public duty doctrine

does not bar premises liability claims, and it conflicted with this Court's precedent rejecting "open and obvious" conditions as a defense.

Finally, this case presents the right occasion for this Court to abolish the public duty doctrine altogether. The doctrine is judge-made, inconsistently applied, and incompatible with Montana's Constitution and statutes, which expressly abolish sovereign immunity and impose a general duty of care. Eliminating it would restore clarity and fairness by holding governmental entities to the same duty as private actors. Montana law has always grounded duty in foreseeability, not immunity; the City should be held to the same standard of ordinary care as any private actor.

ARGUMENT

This appeal presents three issues. First, the District Court erred by restricting the inapplicability of the public duty doctrine solely to premises liability claims, effectively reviving governmental immunity that the Montana Constitution abolished. Second, the court further erred in holding that a nonfunctioning streetlight on City property was not part of the premises, thereby excluding critical causation evidence and contradicting Montana precedent rejecting the "open and obvious" bar to liability. Finally, because the public duty doctrine is judge-made, inconsistently applied, and

irreconcilable with Montana's Constitution and statutes, this Court should exercise its supervisory authority to abolish the doctrine altogether. The Montana Constitution abolished sovereign immunity; the public duty doctrine cannot resurrect it.

1. The District Court erred by restricting the inapplicability of the public duty doctrine solely to premises liability claims.

In denying the City's summary judgment motion, the District Court acknowledged that "if a private person would be liable to the plaintiff for the acts that were committed by the government, then the governmental entity would similarly be liable." (Appx., Doc. 168 at 4 (quoting *Gatlin-Johnson ex rel. Gatlin v. City of Miles City*, 2012 MT 302, ¶¶ 39, 53, 367 Mont. 414, 291 P.3d 1129)). Yet in granting NorthWestern's motion, it drew an artificial boundary: because the court had ruled the streetlight was not actionable under premises liability, it held the public duty doctrine applied, shielding the City from all other negligence claims. (Appx., Doc. 193 at 12).

That restriction is contrary to Montana law. Statutes impose a universal duty of ordinary care on all persons and entities. Section 27-1-701, MCA, provides that "[e]very person is responsible ... for an injury occasioned to another by the person's want of ordinary care or skill." Section 28-1-201, MCA, similarly requires that "[e]very person is bound,

without contract, to abstain from injuring the person or property of another.”

Neither statute exempts municipalities.

The Montana Constitution also abolished sovereign immunity, providing that “[t]he state, counties, cities, towns, and all other local governmental entities shall have no immunity from suit for injury to a person or property, except as may be specifically provided by law by a two-thirds vote of each house of the legislature.” Mont. Const. art. II, § 18; *see also* §§ 2-9-101, -102, MCA. And this Court has long held that duty turns on foreseeability: a defendant owes a duty where it is reasonably foreseeable that their conduct may cause injury. *Bassett*, ¶ 16; *Fisher v. Swift Transp. Co.*, 2008 MT 105, ¶ 13, 342 Mont. 335, 181 P.3d 601.

By confining the public duty doctrine’s inapplicability to premises liability alone, the District Court effectively reintroduced governmental immunity that the Constitution abolished. This error prevented the jury from considering the City’s negligence concerning the streetlight and denied Appellant the right to have liability decided under Montana’s ordinary duty framework.

2. The District Court erred by concluding that a nonfunctioning streetlight is not premises liability, thereby excluding critical causation evidence.

Montana law recognizes that premises liability arises from conditions or hazards on land controlled by the defendant. *See Richardson v. Corvallis Pub. Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 286 Mont. 309, 321, 950 P.2d 748, 755 (1997).

Property owners must exercise ordinary care to maintain their premises in a reasonably safe condition and to warn of hidden dangers. *Id.* The law does not excuse the City from duties that every private landowner must follow — to keep its premises safe and address foreseeable hazards.

The intersection where Appellant was struck was City property. The streetlight, though owned by NorthWestern Energy, was installed on City land under a contract obligating the City’s police department to report outages. (Doc. 93 at Ex. A; Ex. 7, Bengé Depo. 80:6–12, 83:5–8). Evidence showed the light had been out “for some time,” that police headquarters was a block away, so that the City had constructive notice of the outage. (Doc. 214 at 6; Ex. 6, FOIA email; Ex. 3, Nelson Depo. 70:18-20). A streetlight affixed to City land and serving pedestrian safety is no less a condition of the premises than a sidewalk or traffic signal. And like the City of Columbia Falls in *Kent*, which was found to have undertaken an active role “in

monitoring, determining, and approving the engineering aspects of the trail system,”¹ the City of Bozeman here undertook an active role when it assumed the contractual duty to notify the utility of an outage and assumed a duty to act reasonably.

In granting NorthWestern’s motion, however, the District Court held:

Here, the inoperable Streetlight is not actionable under a theory of premises liability. As such, the public duty doctrine applies, shielding the City from tort liability with respect to the Streetlight.

(Appx., Doc. 193 at 12).

That conclusion contradicted the court’s earlier ruling that the public duty doctrine does not bar premises liability claims (Appx., Doc. 168). It also relied on out-of-state precedent treating darkness as an “open and obvious” condition barring liability. (Appx., Doc. 193 at 11–12, citing *Plattner v. City of Riverside*, 82 Cal. Rptr. 2d 211 (Cal. Ct. App. 1999); *Lyman v. Solomon*, 258 P.3d 647 (Utah Ct. App. 2011); *Tarrazi v. 2025 Richmond Ave. Assocs., Inc.*, 688 N.Y.S.2d 220 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 1999)). But this Court rejected that doctrine nearly three decades ago, holding that

¹ *Kent v. City of Columbia Falls*, 2015 MT 139, ¶ 49, 379 Mont. 190, 350 P.3d 9.

whether premises are reasonably safe is generally a factual question for the jury. *Richardson*, 286 Mont. at 321, 950 P.2d at 755–56 (overruling prior “open and obvious” cases); *Steichen v. Talcott Props., LLC*, 2013 MT 2, ¶ 17, 368 Mont. 169, 292 P.3d 458. That darkness was known may be evidence for the jury, but it should not be determinative of whether the City reasonably maintained the premises. *See Steichen*, ¶ 19.

Here, in contrast to *Plattner*, the totality of hazards made the intersection unreasonably dangerous: no markings, no signage, no warnings, and no light. (*See* Doc. 214, Offer of Proof at 2, list of hazards). Experts testified that a working streetlight would have reduced glare from oncoming headlights and allowed Nelson to see Nesta in time to avoid impact. (Ex. 1, Norris Rpt. at 12; Ex. 5, Miller Eng’g Rpt. at 12). Nelson herself admitted illumination would have made pedestrians easier to detect. (Ex. 3, Nelson Depo. 72:9–10, 16:7–9).

By categorizing the streetlight as outside premises liability, the District Court barred expert testimony and other causation evidence that was central to Appellant’s theory of negligence. This was not a discretionary evidentiary ruling but a legal error. It deprived the jury of a full understanding of the hazards and denied Appellant a fair trial.

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