IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA
No. DA 25-0454

JUBILEE NESTA SARA DA',

Appellant,

v.

CITY OF BOZEMAN,

Appellee.

APPELLEE CITY OF BOZEMAN'S BRIEF

On Appeal from the Montana Eighteenth Judicial District Court, Gallatin County,
the Honorable Rienne H. McElyea, Presiding

E. Casey Magan
Russell S. Waddell
WADDELL & MAGAN, P.C.
P.O. Box 11330
Bozeman, MT 59719-1330
Phone: (406) 585-4145
Fax: (406) 587-6167
ecm@bozemanlawyer.com
rsw@bozemanlawyer.com

Attorneys for Appellant

Brian L. Taylor
Steve Hamilton
HALL & EVANS, LLC
175 N. 27th Street, Ste. 1101
Billings, MT 59101
Telephone: (406) 969-5227
Fax: (406) 969-5233
taylorb@hallevans.com
hamiltons@hallevans.com

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

2. *Nesta’s attorney admitted that there was no contract imposing any duty on the City to monitor the streetlight. All parties agree that the City was not obligated to monitor the streetlight.*

Nesta’s attorney attempts to circumvent the lack of ownership by asserting incorrectly that the City somehow had a contractual obligation to monitor all the

streetlights that NWE owned, operated, and maintained. (Appellant’s Brief, pg. 7 & 14-5).

The problem with this assertion is that the City disagrees—its representative asserted that no contract existed; NWE disagrees—its representative admitted that no contract existed. Furthermore, Nesta disagrees—Nesta’s counsel argued in the below proceedings that no contract existed, creating such a duty.

First, at the hearing on NWE’s Motion for Summary Judgment, City’s counsel clarified that the City only monitors City-owned streetlights and that the City did not own the subject streetlight; rather NWE owned, operated, and maintained the subject streetlight. (Appx. Tr. 12/17/24, pg. 25). City’s Counsel cited to the deposition of the City’s 30(b)(6) representative, Shawn Kohtz, at pages 175-176 and 169. (Page 169 of his deposition is attached to Doc. 93, Ex. G) (Pages 175-176 of his deposition are attached to Doc. 108, Ex. 1). Therein, Mr. Kohtz testified that the City does inspect *City-owned* streetlights to make sure they are operating, and that no bulbs are burnt out; however, the City does not inspect streetlights owned by NWE or any other entity (Id.).

Second, Nicole Benge, the NWE 30(b)(6) representative, admitted that NWE was unable to locate *any* contract related to the subject streetlight. (Doc. 112, Ex. 7, pg. 85:21 to 85:24 thereto, deposition of Nicole Benge) (Q: Okay. So — and you can’t find the contract that applies to this particular streetlamp, correct? A: Correct)

(*see also*, Id. pg. 84:21 to 84:22) (A: “Northwestern Energy cannot find a contract specific to this streetlight.”). Ms. Bengé also admitted that the Tariffs that Nesta cited are **not** with the City. (Id. pg. 84:2 to 84:10) (Q: “Okay. Does the public know you have this tariff with the City of Bozeman regarding this street lamp [sic] at 15th and College?” A: “The tariff isn’t with the City of Bozeman. This tariff is our general tariffs that, you know, were regulated by the public service commission, so it’s a tariff of all our facilities. It’s not specific to the City of Bozeman, and it’s a part of our greater tariffs.”) (*see also*, Id., pg. 115:10 to 115:13) (Q: “Okay. But you [NWE] don’t have a contract that says that [that customers will inform them of bulbs being burnt out]?” A: “Not for this specific light, but we have contracts with the City for many other lights.”).

Therefore, as between the City and NWE, it is agreed that no contract exists that created such a duty.

More importantly, Nesta’s counsel admitted that no such contractual duty existed. As discussed above, under Statement of the Case, Section B, Nesta’s counsel made several important statements and admissions at oral argument. For context, in briefing herein, Nesta asserts that a contractual obligation existed between the City and NWE related to monitoring streetlights:

- a. First, she admitted that NWE owned, operated, and maintained the streetlight. (Appx. 12/17/24, pg. 37:9 to 37:16).

- b. Second, she stated that there was **no contract** related to the subject streetlight between the City and NWE. (Appx. Tr. 12/17/24, pg. 36); (*see also*, Doc. 112, Ex. 7 thereto, deposition of Nicole Benge) (Q: Okay. So — and you can't find the contract that applies to this particular streetlamp, correct? A: Correct); (*see also*, Doc. 93, Ex. G thereto, deposition of Shawn Kohtz — no contracts exist for this old streetlight between NWE and the City).
- c. Third, there was an assertion that Tariffs created a legal duty to the City to inform NWE of any outage. However, she correctly argued that neither Tariff created such a duty.
 - i. As to the 2022 Tariff, (Doc. 93, Ex. C thereto, Bates numbers NWE 000019-20), that Tariff was created after the October 14, 2019, incident and therefore could not apply. (Appx. Tr.12/17/24, pg. 36).
 - ii. Regarding the other Tariff, which is dated January 1, 2017, (Doc. 93, Ex. C thereto, Bates numbers NWE 000021-25), it only put a duty of notification of a light being out for lights owned by NWE customers. Because everyone agreed that the City did not own the subject streetlight, that Tariff could not create such a duty. (Appx. Tr. 12/17/24, pg. 36-37).

Therefore, no contractual duty existed which again means that Nesta's purported premises liability fails.

- 3. *Nesta's theory of premises liability, i.e., that the City is liable for an inoperable streetlight that the City did not own, operate, or maintain, greatly expands premises liability because the streetlight was not the injury-causing product.*

Nesta's claim was not a premises liability case against the City, as to the streetlight, because the City did not own, operate, maintain, or control said streetlight. Even ignoring this point, Nesta's claim was not a premises liability claim because a premises liability claim is premised on the fact that the physical condition

of the property causes the injury, such as a pothole or patch of ice that is slipped on or a raised section of the sidewalk.

The City, and indeed, Nesta, could not cite the District Court to any premises liability claim wherein the actual property did not cause the injury. However, numerous cases from other jurisdictions have held that a premises liability claim must be based on the physical condition of the property that causes the injury. *Hernandez v. Dolgencorp of Tex., Inc.*, 2024 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 205473 (W.D. Tex. 2024); *Martuscello v. Jensen*, 134 A.D.3d *4 at *6; *Springer v. City and County of Denver*, 13 P.3d 794, 799 (CO Supreme Court); *Wilson v. Stephens*, 757 S.W.2d 297, 299 (W.D. MO 1988) (There was no allegation or proof that there was a dangerous condition in the physical condition of the school ground which contributed to cause the accident).

Further, *Laufenberg v. Golab*, 438 N.E.2d 1238 (Ill. App. Ct. 1982), is especially instructive. **There, the court held that no premises liability case exists where the plaintiff was struck by a car on a street—the car was an independent cause—and the injury was not attributed to the physical condition of the roadway.** The court stated:

The dispositive point of differentiation between each and all of these authorities and the case at bar is the fact that in all of these cases there was a physical defect of some kind either in the premises as such, or in the area very close to the premises. Absolutely to the contrary, in the case at bar, the injuries allegedly suffered by plaintiff have no

connection of any kind with the physical condition of the roadway but resulted entirely from the intervention of an independent factor beyond the control of the defendant.

Id. at 1241 (*underscoring added*); *see also*, *Flygare v. Ogden City*, 405 P.3d 970, 977 ¶ 29 (Utah App. 2017) (truck struck several pedestrians in a marked crosswalk where the streetlight was inoperable. Court held that no duty owed to the pedestrians as a matter of law stating: “the end result is the natural darkness of night that the Defendants had no duty eliminate.” *Citing* Rest. Torts, section 323(a)).

Here, no physical condition of the roadway or crosswalk existed that caused the alleged injury; rather, it was an entirely independent cause, i.e., the vehicle that Nelson was driving. The District Court did not err when it held that Nesta was not presenting a premises liability claim, and therefore, the public duty doctrine applied.

4. *Even assuming for argument’s sake that the District Court erred in holding that the City could not be liable for an inoperable streetlight that it did not own, operate, or maintain, said error is at most harmless error.*

“In order to establish that the court abused its discretion, the appellant [Nesta] must demonstrate that ‘the district court acted arbitrarily without conscientious judgment or exceeded the bounds of reason’.” *Seltzer v. Morton*, 2007 MT 62 ¶ 65, 336 Mont. 225, 154 P.3d 561. “[I]f an appellant demonstrates that a district court has abused its broad discretion in rendering an evidentiary ruling” then it must be determined whether the “demonstrated abuse of discretion constitutes a reversible error.” *Id.* No reversible error occurs “unless a substantial right of the appellant

[Nesta] is affected, nor does reversible error occur unless the evidence in question was of such character as to have affected the outcome of the trial.” *Id.*

The District Court correctly excluded the evidence related to causal effect, if any, of the inoperable streetlight. However, even if said ruling was erroneous, it is, at most, harmless error.

First, this is demonstrated by the Jury’s verdict. The Jury determined that the two individuals involved in the accident were the causes. Stated another way, Nelson was found to be inattentive, even though her headlights were operable she did not see Plaintiff, and Nesta incorrectly decided that she had enough to cross, although she clearly should have seen an approaching car’s headlights in the dark.

Conversely, the Jury unanimously held that the City’s street and intersection design did not cause the accident.

Second, Plaintiff chose not to introduce evidence of the streetlight being out that night despite the District Court’s ruling allowing evidence that the streetlight was out. Because Nesta chose not to introduce that fact at all, she cannot now claim error.

Third, and most importantly, the inoperable streetlight merely means that the natural state of darkness exists. That is a known and obvious situation.

Finally, Nesta’s argument omits that there were operable streetlights on the south side of West College. This is shown in Officer Peterson’s dashcam, Trial

Exhibit 2003. This is also depicted in the picture contained in the Fact Section. In that picture the south side is on the righthand side of the picture.

For these reasons, even if error, said error was harmless.

B. NESTA DID NOT PROPERLY PRESERVE THE ISSUE OF THE ABOLISHMENT OF THE PUBLIC DUTY DOCTRINE. FURTHER, EVEN IF PROPERLY PRESERVED, THE PUBLIC DUTY DOCTRINE IS BASED ON IMPORTANT PUBLIC POLICY, AND THE ISSUE OF ABOLISHMENT IS ONE FOR LEGISLATURE.

1. Nesta did not properly preserve this issue in the underlying litigation.

This Court has consistently held that it will not address either an issue raised for the first time on appeal or a party's change in legal theory. *See, e.g., Unified Indus., Inc. v. Easley*, 1998 MT 145 ¶ 15, 289 Mont. 255, 961 P.2d 100. "[I]t is fundamentally unfair to fault the trial court for failing to rule correctly on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider." *State v. Akers*, 2017 MT 311 ¶ 12, 389 Mont. 531, 408 P.3d 142. To preserve a claim or objection for appeal, an appellant must first raise that specific claim or objection in the district court. *Gateway Hosp. Grp. Inc. v. Phila. Indem. Ins. Co.*, 2020 MT 125 ¶ 15, 400 Mont. 80, 464 P.3d 44 (citations omitted); *see In re M.G.*, 2009 MT 97 ¶ 10 n.1, 350 Mont. 76, 204 P.3d 1242 (declining to address "various constitutional issues" surrounding the ICWA which were raised for the first time on appeal).

Nesta did not raise the issue of abolishing the public duty doctrine in her Brief in Opposition to the City's Motion for Summary Judgment, therefore the issue was

never briefed. While Nesta’s counsel did mention abolishment of the public duty doctrine in oral argument, she expressly stated: “we don’t need to prove that here” and agreed with the Court that abolishment was not what she was “hanging her hat on.” (Appx. Tr. 9/6/24, pgs. 30:24 to 31:10). Thus, the issue was not briefed or argued and Nesta’s counsel specifically indicated abolishment was not at issue. Nesta cannot now ask this Court to fault the trial court for failing to rule correctly on an issue it was never given the opportunity to consider.

2. *The public duty doctrine does not conflict with the abolishment of sovereign immunity because it is based on the fundamental concept of tort law that a duty must be owed to an individual, as opposed to the general public, to be actionable.*

Nesta asserts the public duty doctrine cannot be squared with Montana’s abolishment of sovereign immunity and §§ 2-9-101 and -102, M.C.A. This argument conflates the concept of immunity with the question of duty. The public duty doctrine provides that a governmental entity cannot be held liable for an individual plaintiff’s injury resulting from a duty owed to the general public rather than to the individual plaintiff. *Massee v. Thompson*, 2004 MT 121 ¶ 41, 321 Mont. 210, 90 P.3d 394. The doctrine was first formally recognized in Montana in *Nelson v. Driscoll*, 1999 MT 193, 295 Mont. 363, 983 P.2d 972, wherein this Court found that a police officer’s general duty to protect and preserve the peace is generally owed to the public at large and not to individual members of the public unless a “special relationship” exists between the officer and an individual. Though frequently applied

in the law enforcement context this Court has applied it in other contexts where there is a duty to protect the general public. *E.g.*, *Nelson v. State*, 2008 MT 336, ¶¶ 32-52, 346 Mont. 206, 195 P.3d 293 (finding licensing statutes regulating the practice of medicine imposed duty to protect public in general); *Prosser v. Kennedy Enter., Inc.*, 2008 MT 87, ¶¶ 12-13, 342 Mont. 209, 179 P.3d 1178 (finding zoning authority imposed duty to protect public in general).

Sovereign immunity is a different concept. It arose from the theory that “the king can do no wrong” and therefore could not be sued. Sovereign immunity completely bars tort liability based only on the defendant’s status. *See William L. Prosser, Law of Torts*, § 131 (4th ed. 1971). The Bill of Rights Committee of the 1972 Constitutional Convention completely abolished the “archaic doctrine” of sovereign immunity with Article II, Section 18, which provides that state and local government entities “shall have no immunity from suit for injury to a person or property, except as may be specifically provided by law by a 2/3 vote of each house of the legislature.” *See Montana Constitutional Convention, Bill of Rights Committee Proposals*, February 23, 1972, at 31-33; *see also State ex rel. Mont. Bd. of Med. Examiners v. Mont. Second Judicial Dist. Court*, 398 Mont. 446, 454 P.3d 629 (2019) (Sandefur, J., dissenting) (discussing history). Importantly, Article II, Section 18, does not impose greater liability on governmental entities than what

would exist under general tort law principles. Further, it only addresses immunity and has no bearing on whether governmental entities owe legal duties.

The 1973 Legislature then enacted § 2-9-102, M.C.A., which states, “Every governmental entity is subject to liability for its torts and those of its employees acting within the scope of their employment or duties whether arising out of a governmental or proprietary function.” Tort claims mean any claim for damages caused by a negligent or wrongful act or omission of a government employee “under circumstances where the governmental entity, if a private person, would be liable to the claimant for the damages under the laws of the state.” § 2-9-101(1), M.C.A. The Legislature clearly intended to subject government entities and officers to tort liability only as otherwise provided under general tort law principles. *See State ex rel. Mont. Bd. of Med. Examiners*, 398 Mont. 446 (Sandefur, J., dissenting).

There is no conflict between the abolition of sovereign immunity, the tort claims act, and the public duty doctrine. The public duty doctrine assesses whether a legal duty is owed—a question that arises in all negligence cases. *Krieg v. Massey*, 239 Mont. 469, 472, 781 P.2d 277 (1989). “There can be no negligence in the absence of a duty.” *Green v. Hagele*, 182 Mont. 155, 158, 595 P.2d 1159 (1979). The public duty doctrine is merely “a special application or variant of the traditional common law limitation on foreseeability-based duty of care narrowly applicable to government entities and actors under certain circumstances.” *Md. Cas. Co. v.*

Asbestos Claims Ct., 2020 MT 70 ¶ 28 n.22, 399 Mont. 279, 460 P.3d 882 (citations omitted). This Court distinguished between sovereign immunity and questions of legal duty in *Orr v. State*, noting that the sovereign immunity defense does not mean that there is an absence of duty; it just means any breach of duty is not actionable against the sovereign. 2004 MT 354 ¶ 55, 324 Mont. 391, 106 P.3d 100.

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